IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC09-240

JOHN RANDO, GAIL RANDO,

Appellants,

v.

Lower Tribunal No.: 08-13247-BB

GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES  
INSURANCE COMPANY,

Appellee.

---

**ON CERTIFICATION OF QUESTION  
BY THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS  
FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT**

---

**APPELLANTS' INITIAL BRIEF**

---

**BABIARZ LAW FIRM, P.A.**

Timothy S. Babiarz  
Florida Bar No. 0050407  
13940 N. US Hwy. 441, Suite 205  
The Villages, FL 32159  
(352) 205-7599  
(352) 205-7590 (facsimile)  
tim@babiarzlawfirm.com

Attorneys for Appellants

**MILLS CREED & GOWDY, P.A.**

Bryan S. Gowdy  
Florida Bar No. 0176631  
865 May Street  
Jacksonville, FL 32204  
(904) 350-0075

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court repeatedly has declared anti-stacking provisions in uninsured motorist policies to be void for public policy and unenforceable. In other words, this Court permits insureds to combine, or “stack,” insurance coverages even if the plain language of their insurance policy says they cannot “stack” coverages.

This pro-stacking policy is a judicial creation. But it has been the subject of nearly a half-century of a “dialogue” with the Legislature. This dialogue has consisted of numerous legislative amendments that have reformed, modified, and, for a brief period, completely abolished the Judiciary’s pro-stacking policy. In enacting these amendments, the Legislature is presumed to know of judicial decisions, including this Court’s decisions invalidating anti-stacking provisions. And, this Court further presumes that the Legislature adopts those prior judicial decisions – including those invalidating anti-stacking provisions – unless the Legislature expresses a contrary intention in the new legislation.

The end result of this long-running “dialogue” between the Judiciary and the Legislature is that insurers today may enforce anti-stacking provisions *only if* they obtain informed consent from the insured in accordance with the uninsured motorist statute. In this case, it is undisputed that the Insurer did not obtain this statutorily required informed consent. Therefore, Florida law prohibits the Insurer from enforcing its Anti-Stacking Provision.

The federal district court, however, concluded that Florida's pro-stacking public policy applies only if the conditions in the uninsured motorist statute are satisfied, including the condition that a motor vehicle be garaged or registered in Florida. The plain language of the statute does not say this. Indeed, this Court in *Gillen* held just the opposite. *Gillen* applied Florida's pro-stacking policy even though it expressly acknowledged that one of the conditions in the statute was not satisfied. Given the nature of the uninsured motorist coverage, it would be illogical to tie Florida's pro-stacking policy to where a motor vehicle is located. Uninsured motorist insurance is not designed to protect any particular vehicle. Instead, it is a personal benefit designed to protect the named insured from an injury caused by an uninsured motorist wherever that injury may occur, including when a named insured is nowhere near her vehicle – for example, when she is walking, riding a bicycle, or taking a public bus.

*Gillen* should control the decision in this case. It is a thirty-five year-old precedent. None of the numerous legislative amendments still in effect today have undermined this Court's decision in *Gillen*. Therefore, the Legislature is presumed to have adopted *Gillen*. But the federal district court and the Insurer erroneously relied on the Third District's *Woodward* decision, a non-stacking case that is legally and factually distinguishable from the instant case.

## **ARGUMENT**

**ISSUE and CERTIFIED QUESTION:** WHETHER, UNDER FLORIDA LAW, AN AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE POLICY -- WHICH WAS EXECUTED, ISSUED AND DELIVERED IN FLORIDA TO THE NAMED INSUREDS RESIDING IN FLORIDA FOR A CAR THAT IS REGISTERED AND GARAGED IN DELAWARE -- MAY VALIDLY PROVIDE THAT UNINSURED MOTORIST COVERAGE UNDER THAT POLICY MAY NOT BE COMBINED WITH UNINSURED MOTORIST COVERAGE PROVIDED BY A SEPARATE AUTOMOBILE POLICY ALSO ISSUED BY THE INSURER TO THE NAMED INSUREDS IN FLORIDA.

### **Standard of Review**

The Eleventh Circuit concluded that its review of the federal district court's summary judgment order was *de novo*. *Rando*, 2009 U.S. App. LEXIS 2059, at \*5 n.4. This Court's review also should be *de novo*, as the certified question is a pure question of law concerning the enforceability of a contract provision. *See, e.g., Global Travel Mktg., Inc. v. Shea*, 908 So. 2d 392, 396 (Fla. 2005) (holding validity of an agreement is a pure question of law subject to *de novo* review).

### **Arguments on the Merits**

#### **I. Introduction**

The “[s]tacking of coverages occurs when coverage from vehicles not involved in the accident is sought to be added to the coverage for the vehicle involved in the accident.” *Auto-Owners Ins. Co. v. Anderson*, 756 So. 2d 29, 35 (Fla. 2000) (emphasis omitted). Provisions in insurance contracts that purport to prohibit stacking are commonly called, among other things, “other insurance,”

“excess escape” or “prorate” provisions. *See State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Sinacola*, 385 So. 2d 115, 118 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980). This brief refers to all of these provisions that prohibit stacking as simply “anti-stacking provisions.”

This Court has declared anti-stacking provisions in uninsured motorist (“UM”) policies to be void for public policy and thus unenforceable. *E.g. Fireman's Fund Ins. Co. v. Pohlman*, 485 So. 2d 418, 419-21 (Fla. 1986); *Gillen v. United Servs. Auto-Mobile Assoc.*, 300 So. 2d 3, 6-7 (Fla. 1974); *Tucker v. GEICO*, 288 So. 2d 238, 240-42 (Fla. 1973); *Sellers v. United States Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 185 So. 2d 689, 692 (Fla. 1966); *see also Sinacola* (noting that “Florida is clearly among those states which has generally condemned and refused to enforce such [anti-stacking] clauses in a UMI context”). This public policy is premised on the “common sense notion that an insured should be entitled to get what is paid for.” *United Servs. Auto. Ass'n v. Roth*, 744 So. 2d 1227, 1229 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999) (citing *Tucker*, 288 So. 2d at 242).

The Insurer, however, asserts that the “pro-stacking” cases cited immediately above do not apply and do not render its Anti-Stacking Provision unenforceable. The Insurer gives primarily two reasons to support its position. First, the Insurer notes that the cases cited above pre-date a 1987 amendment to section 627.727(9), Florida Statutes, which allowed anti-stacking provisions if certain conditions were satisfied; therefore, although section 627.727(9)’s

conditions have not been satisfied in this case,<sup>5</sup> the Insurer argues that section 627.727(9) supersedes the cases cited above and their “pro-stacking” policy. (Appellee’s 11th Cir. Br. 12-19). Second, the Insurer notes that, under its plain language, section 627.727(1), Florida Statutes, does not apply; therefore, even though Florida law applies to the Policy,<sup>6</sup> it argues that the Florida cases cited above and their pro-stacking policy do not apply to the Policy’s Anti-Stacking Provision. The Insurer’s two arguments are without merit. *Infra* Arguments III and IV. Before addressing these arguments, however, it is necessary to first explain the development of Florida law on stacking in the context of UM coverage.

*Infra* Argument II.

**II. Current Florida law on the stacking of UM coverages is the result of a long-running dialogue between the Legislature and the Judiciary.**

Current Florida law on the enforceability of anti-stacking provisions in the UM context is the result of nearly a half-century of development. This development has been a “dialogue” of sorts between the Legislature and the Judiciary. As the ensuing discussion demonstrates, the Judiciary from time-to-time has declared the law on the enforceability of anti-stacking provisions. And, the Legislature has responded. It has responded with legislative enactments that have

---

<sup>5</sup> (Op. 14; App. 1, at 14); *Rando*, 2009 U.S. App. LEXIS 2059, at \*17.

<sup>6</sup> (Op. 6 n.5; Doc. 67, at 6; Doc. 74, at 3-4; App. 1, at 6 n.5); *Rando*, 2009 U.S. App. LEXIS 2059, at \*6 n.5.

reformed, modified, and sometimes abolished the Judiciary's declarations. Each and every time the Legislature has responded with legislation, it is presumed to have adopted the Judiciary's prior constructions on UM law unless a contrary intention is expressed in the new legislation. *E.g.*, *Essex Ins. Co. v. Zota*, 985 So. 2d 1036, 1042 (Fla. 2008).

The tale of the dialogue between the Legislature and the Judiciary begins with this Court's decision in *Sellers v. United States Fidelity & Guaranty Co.*, 185 So. 2d 689 (Fla. 1966). In *Sellers*, this Court held that the original UM statute invalidated an anti-stacking provision in a UM policy. *Id.* at 690. To support its holding, this Court reasoned: "There appears no latitude in the [UM] statute for an insurer limiting its liability through [anti-stacking] clauses . . . . If the statute is to be meaningful and controlling in respect to the nature and extent of the coverage . . . , all inconsistent clauses in the policy . . . must be *judicially* rejected." *Id.* at 690 (emphasis added). Though this Court did not point to any express provision in the UM statute prohibiting stacking, it stated that its "views" were "predicated upon [its] construction" of the UM statute. *Sellers*, 185 So. 2d at 692.

When *Sellers* was decided the UM statute in effect was section 627.0851, Florida Statutes, which the Legislature had enacted five years before *Sellers* was decided. Ch. 61-175, §§ 1, 2 at 291-92, Laws of Fla. Although *Sellers* expressly relied on the original UM statute to invalidate an anti-stacking provision, the

original UM statute “did not contain any provision addressing the stacking of UM coverage for different vehicles or policies.” *Rando*, 2009 U.S. App. LEXIS 2059, at \*7; *see also* Ch. 61-175, §§ 1, 2 at 291-92, Laws of Fla. Instead, that statute provided that, if an insurer “delivered or issued for delivery” an automobile liability policy in Florida for a vehicle “registered or principally garaged” in Florida, then the insurer was required to provide uninsured motorist coverage.<sup>7</sup> Ch. 61-175, § 1, at 292, Laws of Fla. The UM statute was later re-codified at section 627.727. *Rando*, 2009 U.S. App. LEXIS 2059, at \*7. The original language from section 627.0851 requiring insurers to provide uninsured motorist coverage has not materially changed and is largely the same as the language currently found in subsection (1) of the current UM statute, section 627.727. *Compare* note 7 with § 627.727(1), Fla. Stat. (2005).<sup>8</sup>

---

<sup>7</sup> Specifically, section 627.0851, Florida Statutes (1961) provided in pertinent part:

No automobile liability insurance, covering liability arising out of the ownership, maintenance, or use of any motor vehicle, shall be delivered or issued for delivery in this state with respect to any motor vehicle registered or principally garaged in this state unless coverage is provided therein or supplemental thereto . . . for the protection of persons insured thereunder who are legally entitled to recover damages from owners or operators of uninsured motor vehicles because of bodily injury, sickness or disease, including death, arising therefrom . . . .

<sup>8</sup> The 2005 version of section 627.727(1) – which is materially the same as the current version – applies because that version was in effect when the Plaintiffs’ accident occurred and their cause of action accrued. *See, e.g., Estate of Doyle ex rel. Doyle v. Mariner Healthcare of Nashville, Inc.*, 889 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004).

The next significant stage in the “dialogue” was this Court’s decision in *Gillen*, 300 So. 2d at 3. There, this Court clarified that Florida’s pro-stacking judicial policy did not depend on satisfying the conditions contained in subsection (1) of the current UM statute (§ 627.727, Fla. Stat.). *See id.* at 6; *infra* Argument IV. The importance of *Gillen* is discussed more fully below in Part IV.

Two years after *Gillen*, the Legislature sent a clear message and expressly repudiated this Court’s pro-stacking policy. In particular, the Legislature in 1976 enacted an anti-stacking statute that prohibited the stacking of all types of insurance coverages. Ch. 76-266, § 10, at 725-26, Laws of Fla.; § 627.4132, Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1976). This period of judicial and legislative disagreement, however, was short lived. In 1980, the Legislature amended section 627.4132 to state that the general prohibition on stacking did not apply to UM policies. Ch. 80-364, § 1, at 1495, Laws of Fla.; § 627.4132, Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1980).

The 1980 amendment to section 627.4132 was thoroughly analyzed by the Second District Court of Appeal in *Auto-Owners Ins. Co. v. Prough*, 463 So. 2d 1184, 1185-87 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985). The insurer in *Prough* argued that, although the 1980 amendment repealed the stacking prohibition, it did not deprive the contracting parties of the right to decide whether UM coverages could or could not be stacked. *Id.* at 1185-86. The Second District disagreed. *Id.* Instead, it agreed with the argument that, under the 1980 amendment, Florida “revert[ed] back to the

pre-1976, *judicially-declared* public policy favoring stacking of uninsured motorist coverage.” *Id.* at 1185-86 (emphasis added).

The Second District explained its reasoning as follows:

It is apparent that the Florida Legislature intended for the [1980] amendment to once again put into effect the prior public policy regarding stacking of uninsured motorist benefits.

This bill simply eliminates the prohibition against stacking and would thus revive prior case law which permitted and determined the extent of the stacking of uninsured motorist insurance policies.

Staff of House Comm. on Insurance, 1980 Fla. Legislature, Reg.Sess., Report on Stacking of Uninsured Motor Vehicles, at 2 (April 28, 1980). *See also* Senate Staff Analysis and Economic Impact Statement, 1980 Fla.Leg., Reg.Sess., Report on Stacking of Uninsured Motor Vehicle Insurance, at 1 (May 30, 1980).

*Id.* at 1186. Therefore, the Second District held, the insurer’s anti-stacking provision in an uninsured motorist policy was void for public policy and unenforceable. *Id.*

One year after *Prough*, this Court apparently agreed with the Second District’s reading of the 1980 amendment. *See Fireman's Fund Ins. Co. v. Pohlman*, 485 So. 2d 418, 419-21 (Fla. 1986). This Court declined to enforce an anti-stacking provision for an insurance endorsement entered after the effective date of the 1980 amendment. *Id.* However, this Court did enforce the same anti-stacking provision for an insurance policy entered into between 1976 and 1980. *Id.*

Shortly after these decisions confirming the revival of the Judiciary's pro-stacking policy, the Legislature enacted another amendment to the UM statute in 1987. *See* Ch. 87-213, § 1, at 1342-43, Laws of Fla.; § 627.727(9), Fla. Stat. (1987). This 1987 amendment modified, but did not completely abolish, the judicial policy that anti-stacking provisions are unenforceable. *Infra* Argument III. With this amendment (which is still part of the UM statute today), the Legislature directed the Judiciary to enforce an anti-stacking provision **only if** the insurer complies with certain informed consent requirements. *See id.*; § 627.427(9), Fla. Stat. (2005); *GEICO v. Douglas*, 654 So. 2d 118, 120 (Fla. 1995); *see also* Ch. 87-213, § 1, at 1342-43, Laws of Fla. In particular, the amendment as presently worded provides:

In connection with the offer authorized by this subsection [(9)], insurers **shall inform** the named insured, applicant, or lessee, **on a form approved by the office**, of the limitations imposed under this subsection and **that such coverage is an alternative to coverage without such limitations**. If this form is signed by a named insured, applicant, or lessee, it shall be conclusively presumed that there was an informed, knowing acceptance of such limitations.

§ 627.727(9), Fla. Stat. (2005) (emphasis added); *see also* Ch. 87-213, § 1, at 1342-43, Laws of Fla.; *infra* note 9. The 1987 amendment also states that the language in an insurance policy – including any anti-stacking provision – must be

“approved” by the Office of Insurance Regulation of the Financial Services Commission.<sup>9</sup> § 627.727(9), Fla. Stat. (2005); § 624.05(3), Fla. Stat. (2005).

In this case, it is undisputed that the Insurer failed to comply with any of the informed consent requirements of the 1987 amendment, as codified at section 627.727(9). (Op. 14; App. 1, at 14); *Rando*, 2009 U.S. App. LEXIS 2059, at \*17. Nevertheless, the Insurer argued to the Eleventh Circuit that it could enforce its Anti-Stacking Clause in light of section 627.727(9). (Appellee’s 11th Cir. Br. 12-19.) This Insurer is mistaken, as argued immediately below.

**III. The 1987 amendment demonstrates that the Legislature adopted the Judiciary’s pro-stacking policy for cases where, as here, the insurer fails to give informed consent to the insured.**

The 1987 amendment proves that the Legislature adopted the Judiciary’s pro-stacking policy for cases, like this one, where the insurer has failed to give the insured the informed consent required by section 627.727(9). *See, e.g., Essex Ins. Co. v. Zota*, 985 So. 2d 1036, 1042 (Fla. 2008) (discussed *infra*). Admittedly, as the Insurer has argued, the 1987 amendment did grant insurers the right to enforce anti-stacking provisions. § 627.727(9), Fla. Stat. (2005); Ch. 87-213, § 1, at 1342-43, Laws of Fla.; (Appellee’s 11th Cir. Br. 19.) However, insurers may exercise this right *only if* they comply with section 627.727(9)’s informed consent

---

<sup>9</sup> At the time of the 1987 amendment, approvals had to be sought from the “department” rather than the “office.” Ch. 87-213, § 1, at 1342-43, Laws of Fla.

requirements. Indeed, this is the holding of a case from this Court in which the Insurer itself was a party. *GEICO v. Douglas*, 654 So. 2d 118, 120 (Fla. 1995).

In *GEICO*, this Court held that the insurer's failure to comply with the section 627.727(9)'s informed consent requirements precluded the insurer from enforcing limitations otherwise allowed by the statute:

[T]o limit coverage validly, the insurer must satisfy the statutorily-mandated requirement of notice to the insured and obtain a knowing acceptance of the limited coverage. . . . It is our opinion that these requirements were the *quid pro quo* given by the legislature to insurers for the right to limit uninsured motorist coverage by this exclusion. . . . [T]he insurer, GEICO, was found not to have complied with the statute. The [lower court], therefore, quite correctly held that the insured was covered under the uninsured motorist provisions of the GEICO policy. We approve that decision.

*Id.* at 120-21. Because it is undisputed that the Insurer failed (as it did in *GEICO*) to comply with the informed consent requirements of section 627.727(9),<sup>10</sup> the Insurer should be precluded from enforcing its Anti-Stacking Provision, just as it was precluded from enforcing its exclusion in *GEICO*. *See id.*

Accordingly, the 1987 Amendment is not the “demise” of the Judiciary’s pro-stacking policy, as suggested by the Insurer (Appellee’s Answer Br. 18). To the contrary, with the 1987 amendment, the Legislature adopted the Judiciary’s pre-1987 decisions proscribing anti-stacking provisions for cases where, as here, the insurer fails to comply with informed consent requirements of section

---

<sup>10</sup> (Op. 14; App. 1, at 14); *Rando*, 2009 U.S. App. LEXIS 2059, at \*17.

627.727(9). This is so because the Legislature is presumed to be acquainted with judicial decisions on the subject matter of statutes it enacts. *E.g.*, *Ford v. Wainwright*, 451 So. 2d 471, 475 (Fla. 1984). Where, as here, the Legislature amends a statute, this Court presumes that the Legislature knows the Judiciary’s prior constructions of the law. *E.g.*, *Essex Ins. Co. v. Zota*, 985 So. 2d 1036, 1042 (Fla. 2008). And, this Court also presumes that, in amending the statute, the Legislature adopts the Judiciary’s prior constructions of the law unless a contrary intention is expressed in the new legislation. *Id.*

In this case, the Legislature’s 1987 amendment to section 627.727 shows an intention to modify, not completely abolish, this Court’s pre-1987 decisions holding that anti-stacking provisions are unenforceable. To reiterate, the 1987 amendment permits the enforcement of anti-stacking provisions *only if* the insurer complies with the informed consent requirements of section 627.727(9). *See* § 627.427(9), Fla. Stat. (2005); *GEICO*, 654 So. 2d at 120. The 1987 amendment does *not* permit the enforcement of anti-stacking provisions where, as here, the insurer fails to comply with the informed consent requirements of section 627.727(9). *See GEICO*, 654 So. 2d at 120. Thus, for the circumstances in this case (i.e., no informed consent per section 627.727(9)), this Court must presume that Legislature adopted this Court’s pre-1987 “pro-stacking” decisions that

prohibit the enforcement of anti-stacking provisions. *See Essex*, 985 So. 2d at 1042.

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