#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC09-240

# JOHN RANDO and GAIL RANDO,

Appellants,

v.

# GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES INSURANCE COMPANY,

Appellee.

On Certification of Question by the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit Case No.: 08-13247-BB

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE, GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES INSURANCE COMPANY

ANGELA C. FLOWERS KUBICKI DRAPER 2303 SE 17th Street Suite 201 Ocala, Florida 34471 Tel.: (352) 622-4222 af@kubickidraper.com Attorneys for Appellee, GEICO

#

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

# **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

There are a few straightforward legal propositions that control the outcome in this case.

First, section 627.727, Florida Statutes, does not apply to the Delaware Policy issued to the Plaintiffs to cover a vehicle registered and principally garaged in Delaware and driven by their daughter, a Delaware resident.

Second, principles of freedom of contact necessarily afford a citizen the right to knowingly and intentionally purchase an out-of-state automobile insurance policy to cover a motor vehicle he or she maintains outside of the state of Florida and require that the insured be subject to the terms of that contract.

Third, Florida does not have a public policy prohibition against an out-of-state insurance policy containing an anti-stacking, or limits of liability, provision where that policy is issued to cover a vehicle registered and principally garaged in another state, and never driven in the state of Florida.

In an attempt to avoid these controlling principles of law, Plaintiffs assert that Florida public policy, either as expressed in section 627.727 or by judge-created rule, prohibits anti-stacking provisions in an uninsured motorist insurance policy issued to a Florida citizen, and thus, an anti-stacking provision contained in an out-of-state automobile insurance policy issued to a Florida resident is void as against public policy, even if the subject vehicle is registered and principally garaged out-of-state and never driven in the state of Florida.

The Plaintiffs are mistaken in their interpretation of Florida public policy and fail to cite to any case that applies the judge-created public policy that they claim exists. Stated otherwise, there is no Florida case voiding an anti-stacking provision contained in a foreign insurance policy written to cover a vehicle registered and principally garaged in another state, and never

driven in the state of Florida. The controlling law requires that the summary judgment entered in favor of GEICO enforcing the Delaware Policy as written be affirmed.

## **CERTIFIED QUESTION**

WHETHER, UNDER FLORIDA LAW, AN **AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE POLICY –** WHICH WAS EXECUTED, ISSUED AND DELIVERED IN FLORIDA TO THE NAMED INSUREDS RESIDING IN FLORIDA FOR A CAR THAT IS REGISTERED AND **GARAGED IN DELAWARE – MAY** VALIDLY PROVIDE THAT UNINSURED MOTORIST COVERAGE UNDER THAT POLICY MAY NOT BE COMBINED WITH UNINSURED MOTORIST COVERAGE PROVIDED BY A SEPARATE AUTOMOBILE POLICY ALSO ISSUED BY THE INSURER TO THE NAMED INSUREDS IN FLORIDA

GEICO urges that the Certified Question should be answered in the affirmative. Where an insured purchases multiple automobile insurance policies, one of which is a Delaware Family Automobile Insurance Policy, such policy, which does not provide coverage to a vehicle registered or

principally garaged in Florida, may validly contain a limits of liability provision prohibiting the combining of uninsured motorist coverage under that policy with uninsured motorist coverage provided by a separate Florida policy. The issues in this case involve questions of law that are reviewed de novo. *Haves v. City of Miami*, 52 F.3d 918, 921 (11th Cir. 1995).

## **ARGUMENT**

- I. THE DELAWARE POLICY ANTISTACKING PROVISION IS NOT VOID
  UNDER FLORIDA LAW BECAUSE
  SECTION 627.727, FLA. STAT., IS NOT
  APPLICABLE WHERE, AS HERE,
  THE COVERED VEHICLE WAS
  NEITHER REGISTERED NOR
  GARAGED IN FLORIDA
  (Plaintiffs' Issue IV restated)<sup>3</sup>
- A. Section 627.727, Florida Statutes, does not apply to the Delaware Policy issued to the Plaintiffs for a vehicle registered and principally garaged in Delaware and driven by their daughter, a Delaware resident.

By its plain terms, section 627.727 does not apply to the Delaware Policy issued by GEICO to Plaintiffs. The statute only applies to automobile insurance "delivered or issued for delivery in this state with respect to any specifically insured or identified motor vehicle registered or principally garaged in this state." § 627.727, Fla. Stat. (2005). At all relevant times, the 1996 Honda was registered in and garaged in Delaware.

Appellants' Initial Br. at 9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The arguments advanced by Plaintiffs in Issues I - III of their Initial Brief are necessarily subsumed in the discussion of Issue IV and are, therefore, addressed together. Within Plaintiffs' Issue I titled "Introduction," they note that Issues III and IV go hand in hand and that Issue II is background discussion concerning the development of Florida law on stacking.

The Florida statute cannot be engrafted upon a Delaware Policy where the prerequisites to application of the statute are not present.

In the federal court proceedings and before this Court, Plaintiffs acknowledge that "the plain language of Fla. Stat. § 627.727(1) . . . excused GEICO from having to provide uninsured motorist coverage to Plaintiffs in the first place." (Appellants' Initial Brief at 21; Appellants' 11th Cir. Br. at 18.) Plaintiffs also state that: "Because the vehicle insured by the Delaware Policy was neither garaged nor registered in Florida, the federal court concluded (correctly) that the latter condition in the uninsured motorist statute was not satisfied . . . ." (Appellants' Initial Brief at 22; Appellants' 11th Cir. Br. at 18.)

While this Court has, under limited circumstances, applied the terms of section 627.727 to uninsured motorist policies not delivered or issued for delivery in this state, *see infra* Argument C, it has never created an exception to the statutory requirement that the insured vehicle be registered or principally garaged in Florida.

In *New Jersey Mfrs. Ins. Co. v. Woodward*, 456 So. 2d 552, 553 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984), the appellate court denied the insureds' request that the requirements of section 627.727 be engrafted upon an uninsured motorist policy issued in New Jersey. The court clearly relied upon the fact that the

policy "related solely to motor vehicles which the insureds principally garaged in New Jersey." *Id.* at 553. The court found that, although the insureds sent their insurer a post office change-of-address form indicating that they had changed their mailing address to Florida, there was no indication on the form that the insureds had changed their permanent residence or that the covered motor vehicles would now be principally garaged in Florida. *Id.* Thus,

the insurer herein was therefore not on reasonable notice that the risk of the policy was centered in Florida rather than New Jersey, and, accordingly, Florida law cannot govern as to the extent of uninsured motorist coverage limits contained in the said policy.

Id.; cited with approval in State Farm Mutual Automobile Ins. Co. v. Roach, 945 So. 2d 1160 (Fla. 2006) ("courts consider whether the insured notified the insurer of a permanent change of residence and whether the insured risk is or will be primarily located in Florida"); see also Allstate Ins. Co. v. Pierce, 468 So. 2d 536 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985) ("the insurance policies in question were issued in North Carolina on automobiles registered and

principally garaged in that state, so that the risk of the policies was centered in North Carolina").

While the Plaintiffs in the instant case did put GEICO on notice of their move to Florida, they nevertheless insisted upon maintaining a Delaware Policy to cover the 1996 Honda. This triggered GEICO to verify the location of the 1996 Honda vehicle. Plaintiffs confirmed that the 1996 Honda remained in Delaware and that they only wanted the mailing address for the Delaware Policy changed to Dunnellon, Florida. Based upon Plaintiffs' representations, GEICO would have no reason to believe that the policy risk had relocated to Florida. In fact, at no time have the Plaintiffs asserted that the 1996 Honda was ever located in Florida.

Florida law does not require that an insurer provide the statutorily mandated uninsured motorist coverage for a vehicle not registered or principally garaged in Florida. Moreover, GEICO maintains that the requirements of section 627.727 cannot be imposed on the Delaware Policy where the Plaintiffs expressly repudiated GEICO's inquiry and concerns that the Delaware Policy should be converted to a Florida policy and insisted that the 1996 Honda should remain covered under a Delaware-rated policy because it remained registered and principally garaged in Delaware. Under these circumstances, there does not exist any basis in Florida law to alter the

terms of the Delaware Policy, a policy that was specifically requested by Plaintiffs and which covered a vehicle registered and principally garaged in Delaware. The district court properly rejected Plaintiffs' suggestion that Florida law would expand the scope of the Delaware uninsured motorist coverage beyond its plain terms.

B. Principles of freedom of contract necessarily afford a citizen the right to knowingly and intentionally purchase an out-of-state automobile insurance policy to cover a motor vehicle he or she maintains outside of the state of Florida and require that the insured be subject to the terms of that contract.

Under the general law of contracts, Florida courts will enforce an insurance contract as written to the extent it does not offend Florida public policy. *H.S. Equities, Inc. v. Hartford Ace & Indemnity, Co.*, 334 So. 2d 573, 576 (Fla. 1976); *Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co. v. Diamond*, 472 So. 2d 1312 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985). The Delaware Policy should be enforced as written because it was knowingly and intentionally selected by Plaintiffs and it does not conflict with any applicable Florida public policy.

Uninsured motorist coverage in Florida is a creature of statute. Accordingly, section 627.727, Fla. Stat., contains the state's ultimate expression of public policy on the subject. *See Salas v. Liberty Mut. Fire* 

Ins. Co., 272 So. 2d 1, 3 (Fla. 1972) (uninsured motorist statute is expression of Florida's public policy); see also § 627.4132, Fla. Stat. (2005) (whether uninsured motorist coverage may be added to or stacked upon other coverage is governed by section 627.727). Florida's public policy concerning uninsured motorist coverage cannot be broader than the statute on which it is based.

As set forth above, by its plain language, the public policy expressed in the statute indicates the legislature's intent that the terms of the statute apply to uninsured motorist policies "delivered or issued for delivery in this state with respect to any specifically insured or identified motor vehicle registered or principally garaged in this state." § 627.727 (1), Fla. Stat. (2005). Since the statute does not apply to a Delaware Policy covering a vehicle not registered or principally garaged in this state, the public policy expressed therein does not apply. See Woodward, 456 So. 2d at 553 (refusing to apply Florida's statutory requirements to a New Jersery-rated uninsured motorist policy where the policy provided coverage for a motor vehicle registered or principally garaged in New Jersey). Absent any applicable public policy which would restrict the terms of the Delaware Policy, it will be enforced as written.

At least one Florida court has previously upheld the freedom of a Florida resident to specifically contract for the purchase of an out-of-state automobile insurance policy and to be bound by the terms of its uninsured motorist coverage. In a case whose facts are strikingly similar to those present in this case, *State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Davella*, 450 So. 2d 1202 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984), the appellate court denied the insured's request that an uninsured motorist policy issued on a Colorado form be required, contrary to its terms, to provide the scope of coverage imposed by section 627.727, Fla. Stat.

In *Davella*, the insured moved from Colorado to Florida. Upon receiving notice of her move, the insurance company issued a Florida policy to the insured. *Id.* at 1203. The insured "returned the Florida policy informing State Farm there was some question as to whether or not she would remain in Florida so she wanted the Colorado policy reinstated." *Id.* (emphasis in original).

The Colorado policy was renewed two times and additional premiums paid for two six month periods prior to the insured being involved in an accident. *Id.* After the accident, the insured contended that she was entitled to the scope of coverage required under section 627.727, Fla. Stat. *Id.* The appellate court rejected the insured's arguments noting that the insured

advised the insurance company on several occasions that she wanted to keep her Colorado policy and she specifically rejected a Florida insurance policy. *Id.* at 1204.

Just as the insured in *Davella* insisted on maintaining her automobile liability coverage under the Colorado-rated policy and refused a Florida policy, the Plaintiffs in the instant case insisted on purchasing a Delaware-rated policy for the 1996 Honda. Moreover, Plaintiffs requested that GEICO maintain their Delaware Policy when questioned about their move to Florida and the location of the 1996 Honda. In striking contrast, Plaintiffs now seek to have this Court declare that the state of Florida will not permit them to abide by the Delaware contract. It would be inequitable to impose Florida's statutory terms upon the Delaware Policy where the Plaintiffs specifically requested the Delaware-rated policy and rejected GEICO's inquiry regarding changing the policy to a Florida policy.

Moreover, under Florida law, execution of an out-of-state automobile insurance policy carries the presumption that the parties bargained for the out-of-state law to apply to the interpretation of the policy. *See Woodward*, 456 So. 2d at 552 (New Jersey uninsured motorist policy carried by Florida residents interpreted under the laws of New Jersey where the policy provided coverage for a motor vehicle registered or principally garaged in

New Jersey); *Davella*, 450 So. 2d at 1204 (out-of-state uninsured motorist policy interpreted under law of foreign jurisdiction where insured specifically requested that the out-of-state policy remain in effect while living in Florida); *see also Sturiano v. Brooks*, 523 So. 2d 1126 (Fla. 1988) (New York residents residing in Florida during the winter months who purchased New York automobile insurance policy presumed to have bargained for, or at least expected, New York law to apply to interpretation of the policy). Thus, the selection of Delaware law through the selection of the Delaware-rated policy written on a Delaware policy form and delivered with an IMPORTANT MESSAGES section identifying Delaware law, governs the contractual choice of law question in this case.

The district court properly interpreted the policy as written consistent with Delaware law and based upon the parties' selection of Delaware law in the insurance policy. *See Mazzoni Farms, Inc. v. E.I. DuPont de Nemours & Co.*, 761 So. 2d 306, 311 (Fla. 2000) (a choice-of-law provision in a contract is enforceable "unless the law of the chosen forum contravenes strong public policy"); *see also Ware Else, Inc. v. Ofstein*, 856 So. 2d 1079 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003) (a contract may as a general rule stipulate to the law that will govern the interpretation and enforcement of the contract).

Indeed, an insurer asked to issue a Delaware-rated policy on a vehicle registered, operated and garaged in Delaware, may only issue policies with the coverage permitted under the laws of the state of Delaware and at the rates set by the insurance regulators of that state. Delaware's uninsured motorist statute provides, in part, that:

(c) The affording of insurance under this section to more than 1 person or to more than 1 vehicle shall not operate to increase the limits of the insurer's liability. When 2 or more vehicles owned or leased by persons residing in the same household are insured by the same insurer or affiliated insurers, the limits of liability shall apply separately to each vehicle as stated in the declaration sheet, but shall not exceed the highest limit of liability applicable to any 1 vehicle.

18 Del. C. § 3902 c. Notably, Plaintiffs do not dispute that the limits of liability provision is valid and enforceable under Delaware law.

In *Johnson v. Colonial Ins. Co. of California*, No. 95C-05-189JOH, 1997 WL 126994 (Del. Super. Ct. 1997), the court construed the above statutory language as "intended to prevent stacking in the narrow

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